# **ORIGINAL**

THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 1 1 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH GRANT,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC99-164

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

# TOPICAL

## STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal (which is reproduced in the Appendix of this brief) will be designated "A", followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the record before the Second District will be designated "R", followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed November 18, 1997, in Pinellas County Circuit Court charged Kenneth Grant, Petitioner, with sexual battery, a second degree felony (R8-9). The State provided notice that a habitual offender sentence would be sought ((R12).

On November 30, 1998, Petitioner served a "Motion to Declare Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997) to be Unconstitutional or to Determine that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is Inapplicable to the Defendant" (R13-32). At a hearing held the same day before Circuit Judge Richard A. Luce, the judge outlined the possible penalties that would be applicable based upon the State's assertion that Grant qualified as a prison releasee reoffender and a violent career criminal (R91-4). Petitioner admitted that he had been to prison "at least three times" (R95). The judge then offered a 15 year mandatory sentence pursuant to the prison releasee reoffender act if Grant would plead to this offense (R95). The judge promised concurrent guidelines sentences on the other cocaine possession charges (R96). The judge also clarified that he would impose 15 years pursuant to the habitual felony offender sentencing provisions (R96).

Defense counsel then argued that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act was unconstitutional as applied to Petitioner, but conceded that identical motions had previously been rejected by the court (R97-8). The court adhered to the prior rulings, but declared that the issue was preserved for appellate review (R98). Petitioner agreed to plead no contest to the sexual battery

charge in return for the offered sentence and reserving the right to appeal the constitutional issue (R99-104, 67-8).

The judge noted that a certificate from the Department of Corrections indicated that Grant was last released from prison on May 31, 1996 (R105). He found that the new offense was committed within three years; and he imposed a 15 year mandatory sentence as a prison releasee reoffender (R106, 77-9). The judge further detailed the exhibits supporting Petitioner's classification as a habitual offender and found that he qualified (R106-7). A concurrent 15 year sentence with a habitual felony offender designation was imposed (R107, 77-9).

A timely notice of appeal was filed December 17, 1998 to the Second District Court of Appeal (R82). On appeal, Petitioner argued two issues; one relating to the unconstitutionality of the Act and the other attacking on double jeopardy grounds his dual sentences as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual offender for the same offense.

The Second District affirmed both the constitutionality of the Act, §775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997), and Petitioner's dual sentences in an opinion released November 24, 1999. (See Appendix) The court discussed constitutionality of the Act with reference to the single subject requirement, separation of powers, cruel and unusual punishment, vagueness, due process, equal protection, and ex post facto challenges (A2-6). The Second District also held that because Grant's 15 year minimum mandatory sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act ran

concurrently with his 15 year habitual offender sentence, there was no error (A6-7).

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on December 22, 1999. In an order dated April 12, 2000, this Court accepted jurisdiction to review the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was sentenced under the Prison Releasee
Reoffender Act. The Act is unconstitutional. It violates the single subject and separation of powers provisions of the state constitution, and also violates the due process, equal protection, and cruel and/or unusual punishment clauses of both the state and federal constitutions. The statute cannot be applied retroactively to one who was released from prison prior to its effective date.

When Petitioner was sentenced both as a habitual felony offender and under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act for one sexual battery, constitutional provisions against double jeopardy were also violated. Florida courts have recognized that a defendant may not receive more than one sentence for a single offense.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STAT-UTES (1997), THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, IS UNCONSTITUTION-AL.

Section 775.082(8), is unconstitutional on the following seven grounds: (1) the statute violates the single subject provisions of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution; (2) the statute violates separation of powers under Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution; (3) the statute violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions contained in the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Section 17, of the Florida Constitution; (4) the statute is void for vagueness under both the state and federal constitutions; (5) the statute violates the due process clauses of both the state and federal constitutions; and (7) the statute's retroactive application to one who was released from prison prior to its effective date violates ex post facto provisions of the state and federal constitutions.

#### 1) Single Subject Requirement

"Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title." Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const. The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (the Act) embraces multiple subjects in violation

of this article. Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, created the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act, which became law on May 30, 1997. The Act was placed in Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997). The new law amended or created sections 944.70-5, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01, and section 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997).

The only portion of the legislation that relates to the same subject matter as sentencing prison releasee reoffenders is Section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997), requiring the Department of Corrections to notify every inmate of the provisions relating to sentencing if the Act is violated within three years of release. None of the other subjects in the Act is reasonably connected or related and not part of a single subject. The rest of the law concerns matters ranging from whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department, to when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance abuser. See § 948.01, Fla. Stat. (1997); § 958.14, Fla. Stat. (1997). Other matters included expanding the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for violation. See § 948.06, Fla. Stat. (1997).

In <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1994), the Florida Supreme Court struck an act for containing two subjects. The Court noted that one purpose of the constitutional requirement was to give fair notice concerning the nature and substance of the legislation. <u>Bunnell</u>, 453 So. 2d at 809. Besides such

notice, another requirement is to allow intelligent lawmaking and to prevent log-rolling of legislation. See State ex. Rel. Landis v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (Fla. 1935); Williams v. State, 100 Fla. 1054, 132 So. 186 (Fla. 1930). Legislation that violates the single subject rule can become a cloak within which dissimilar legislation may be passed without being fairly debated or considered on its own merits. See State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1978).

Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, not only creates the Act, it also amends Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997), to allow "any law enforcement officer who is aware of the probationary or community control status of [a] probationer or offender in community control" to arrest said person and return him or her to the court granting such probation or community control. This provision has no logical connection to the creation of the Act, and, therefore, violates the single subject requirement.

An act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connections. See Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1981). See also State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993) (chapter law creating the habitual offender statute violated single subject requirement). Providing any law enforcement officer who is aware that a person is on community control or probation may arrest that person has nothing to do with the purpose of the Act. Chapter 97-239, therefore, violates the single subject requirement and this issue remains ripe until the 1999 biennial adoption

of the Florida Statutes.

The provisions in the Act dealing with probation violation, arrest of violators, and forfeiting of gain time for violations of controlled release, are matters that are not reasonably related to a specific mandatory punishment provision for persons convicted of certain crimes within three years of release from prison. If the single subject rule means only that "crime" is a subject, then the legislation can pass review, but that is not the rationale utilized by the supreme court in considering whether acts of the legislature comply. The proper manner to review the statute is to consider the purpose of the various provisions, the means provided to accomplish those goals, and then the conclusion is apparent that several subjects are contained in the legislation.

The Act violates the single subject rule, just as the law creating the violent career criminal penalty violated the single subject rule. In State v. Thompson, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (Fla. December 22, 1999), this Court approved the Second District's holding in Thompson v. State, 708 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998) that the session law which created the violent career criminal sentencing scheme, Chapter 95-182, Laws of Florida, was unconstitutional as a violation of the single subject rule. Chapter 95-182 failed because it combined creation of the career criminal sentencing scheme with remedies for victims of domestic violence. This Court observed that the Legislature "has not identified a broad crisis encompassing both career criminals and domestic

violence". 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S2. There were two distinct subjects combined within one chapter law in violation of the single subject requirement.

Most recently in <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S137 (Fla. February 17, 2000), this Court struck down Chapter 95-184 for the same reason. Another example is <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 616 so. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), where this Court held the 1989 session law amending the habitual violent offender statute violated the single subject rule. In addition to the habitual offender statute, the law also contained provisions relating to the repossession of personal property.

Accordingly, this Court should hold that Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida violates the single subject rule. Petitioner acknowledges that district courts of appeal have considered this issue and rejected it in such decisions as Young v. State, 719 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), rev. den., 727 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1999) and Jackson v. State, 744 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 96,308 (Fla. December 15, 1999). In Petitioner's case, the Second District simply relied on the analysis conducted by the Fourth District in Young (A2). This Court should employ the same rationale as it did in Thompson and Heggs to find the Prison Releasee Reoffender legislation unconstitutional.

# 2) Separation of Powers

Section 775.082(8), violates Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution in three separate and distinct ways. First,

section 775.082(8)(d) restricts the ability of the parties to plea bargain in providing only limited reasons for the state's departure from a maximum sentence. Under Florida's constitution, "the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute." State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986). Section 775.082(8)(d) unlawfully restricts the exercise of executive discretion that is solely the function of the state attorney in determining whether and how to prosecute,

Second, pursuant to Section 775.082(8)(d)1.c., Florida

Statutes (1997), it is the victim who is permitted to make the ultimate decision regarding the particular sentencing scheme under which a defendant will be sentenced. This occurs even if the trial judge believes that the defendant should receive the mandatory punishment, or should not receive the mandatory maximum penalty. This is an unconstitutional delegation of authority.

The language of Section 775.082(8)(d)1., Florida Statutes (1997), makes it clear the intent of the legislature is that the offender who qualifies under the statute be punished to the fullest extent of the law unless certain circumstances exist. Those circumstances include the written statement of the victim. There is no language in the statute which would appear to give a trial judge the authority to override the wishes of a particular victim. The legislature has therefore unconstitutionally delegated this sentencing power to victims of defendants who qualify under the statute.

Third, the Act also violates the separation of powers doctrine because it removes any discretion of the sentencing judge to do anything other than sentence under the mandatory provisions, unless certain circumstances set out in Section 775.082(8)d.1. are met. Every one of those circumstances is a matter that is outside the purview of the trial judge. The circumstances include insufficient evidence, unavailability of witnesses, the statement of the victim, and an apparent catch-all which deals with other extenuating circumstances.

In contrast, the habitual felony offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1997), vests the trial judge with discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. For example, if the judge finds that a habitual sentence is not necessary for the protection of the public, then the sentence need not be imposed. That is true for a person who qualifies as either a habitual felony offender, a habitual violent felony offender, or a violent career criminal. Although sentencing is clearly a judicial function, the legislature has attempted to vest this authority in the executive branch by authorizing the state attorney to determine who should and who should not be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. While prosecution is an executive function, sentencing is judicial in nature.

Once the state attorney decides to pursue a releasee reoffender sentence and demonstrates that the defendant satisfies the statutory criteria, the sentencing court's function then become ministerial in nature. The court must sentence pursuant

to the Act. There is no requirement of a finding that such sentencing is necessary to protect the public. It is the lack of inherent discretion on the part of the court to determine the defendant's status and to determine the necessity of a prison releasee reoffender sentence to protect the public that renders the act violative of the separation of powers doctrine.

The separation of powers principles establish that, although the state attorney may suggest the classification and sentence, it is only the judiciary that decides whether to make the classification and impose the mandatory sentence. London v. State, 623 so. 2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Lacking the provisions of the violent career criminal statute and the habitual offender statute that vest sole discretion as to classification and imposition of a sentence in the sentencing court, the Act violates the separation of powers doctrine.

Appellant acknowledges that the Second District held in State v. Cotton, 728 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), review granted, Case No. 94,996 (Fla. June 11, 1999) that the act does not totally eliminate judicial fact-finding and sentencing discretion. Accord, State v. Wise, 744 So. 2d 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 95,230 (Fla. August 5, 1999). The Grant court basically relied upon Cotton to support its conclusion that judicial discretion has not been eliminated; consequently there is no separation of powers problem.

Furthermore, <u>Grant</u> suggests that even if <u>Cotton</u> and <u>Wise</u> were incorrectly decided, the Act still does not violate <u>separa-</u>

tion of powers principles, citing to McKnight v. State, 727 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 94,996 (Fla. June 11, 1999); Woods v. State, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 95,281 (Fla. August 23, 1999) and Speed v. State, 732 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), review granteded, Case No. 95,706 (Fla. September 16, 1999).

Also pending before this Court are Fifth District decisions in Lookadoo v. State, 737 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 96,640 (Fla. November 15, 1999) and Gray v. State, 742 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), review granted, Case No. 96,765 (Fla. January 18, 2000). In each of these decisions, Judge Sharp wrote a dissenting opinion which would hold that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act violates the separation of powers provisions in both the state and federal constitutions. view, the Act "completely removes the trial judge from the discretionary sentencing function and places it in the hands of the executive branch -- the attorney general -- or the victim". 737 so. 2d at 638; 742 So. 2d at 807. Examining cases from both Florida and other jurisdictions, she observes that other statutes have been struck down where there is no limit on prosecutorial power to arbitrarily seek an enhanced sentence which the judge is then bound to impose.

Accordingly, this Court should adopt the well-reasoned dissents of Judge Sharp and hold that §775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) violates the separation of powers provision of Article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

# 3) Cruel and Unusual Punishment

The Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution forbids cruel and unusual punishment. Article I, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution prohibits any cruel or unusual punishment. prohibitions against cruel and/or unusual punishment mean that neither barbaric punishments nor sentences that are disproportionate to the crime committed may be imposed. <u>See Solem v</u>. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983). In Solem, the Supreme Court stated that the principle of punishment proportionality is deeply rooted in common law jurisprudence, and has been recognized by the Court for almost a century. Proportionality applies not only to the death penalty, but also to bail, fines, other punishments and prison sentences. Thus, as a matter of principle, a criminal sentence must be proportionate to the crime for which the defendant has been convicted. No penalty, even imposed within the limits of a legislative scheme, is per se constitutional as a single day in prison could be unconstitutional under some circumstances.

In Florida, the <u>Solem</u> proportionality principles as to the federal constitution are the minimum standard for interpreting the state's cruel or unusual punishment clause. <u>See Hale v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 630 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1993). Proportionality review is also appropriate under Article I, Section 17, of the state constitution. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1993).

The Act violates the proportionality concepts of the cruel or unusual punishment clause by the manner in which defendants

are punished as prison releasee reoffenders. Section 775.082

(8) (a) 1., defines a reoffender as a person who commits an enumerated offense and who has been released from a state correctional facility within the preceding three years. Thus, the Act draws a distinction between defendants who commit a new offense after release from prison, and those who have not been to prison or who were released more than three years previously. The Act also draws no distinctions among the prior felony offenders for which the target population was incarcerated. The Act therefore disproportionately punishes a new offense based on one's status of having been to prison previously without regard to the nature of the prior offense.

For example, an individual who commits an enumerated felony one day after release from a county jail sentence for aggravated battery is not subject to the enhanced sentence of the Act.

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