# **ORIGINAL**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

MAY 3 0 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

KENNETH GRANT,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC99-164

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 175130
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2367
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Issue I: the prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate single subject and separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution, nor does it violate constitutional provisions regarding cruel and unusual punishment, vagueness, due process, equal protection or ex post facto prohibitions.

Issue II: Appellant's concurrent sentences of 15 years imprisonment as a prison release reoffender and as a habitual felony offender did not violate the prohibition against double jeopardy.

## ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER SECTION 775.082(8), FLA. STAT. (1997), THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The Second District Court of Appeals did not err in ruling that the prison releasee reoffender statute (PRR, or the Act) was constitutional. Petitioner attacks the PRR statute on several constitutional grounds and respondent will address each of those challenges:

## 1) Single Subject Violation

The Act does not violate the single subject requirement under the Florida Constitution. The Second District Court of Appeals properly rejected this constitutional challenge. As is pointed out in Grant v. State, So.2d 745 519,520 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) "... [t]he First, Fifth, and Fourth Districts have rejected this argument as it relates to the Act. (citations omitted.). <u>Grant</u> panel adopted the analysis of the Fourth District in Young v. 719 so. 2d 1010, at loll-12 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), rev. State, denied, 727 So.2d 915 (Fla. 1999). As the court stated in Young:

The test for determining duplicity of subject "is whether or not the provisions of the bill as designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort." Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, in addition to adding section 775.082(8), also amended sections 944.705, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01 and 958.14. The preamble to the legislation states its purpose was to impose stricter punishment on reoffenders to protect society.

Because each amended section dealt in some fashion with reoffenders, we conclude the statute meets that test. <u>Id.</u> at 1012.

The single subject requirement of article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution simply requires that there be "a logical between the various portions of the or natural connection" legislative enactment. State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1993). subject requirement is satisfied if a The single "reasonable explanation exists as to why the legislature chose to join the two subjects within the same legislative act. . . . " Id. Similarly, the Supreme Court has spoken of the need for a "cogent relationship" between the various sections of enactment. <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1984). Furthermore, "... wide latitude must be accorded the legislature in the enactment of laws" and a court should "strike down a statute only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject." State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). "The act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection." Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991). "The test for determining duplicity of subject is whether or not the provisions of the bill are designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort." Busch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1990).

A careful reading of the provisions of Chapter 97-239, Laws of

Florida, compels the conclusion that the requisite natural or logical connection between the various sections exists. All of the amendments contained in Chapter 97-239 deal with the release, recapture, and resentencing of convicted felons, regardless of the type of release.

In addition to enacting the "Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act," Chapter 97-239 also created subsection six (6) of section 944.705, which requires that inmates released from prison be given notice of section 775.082. This amendment clearly involves the release of inmates and does not violate the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. Chapter 97-239 also section 947.141, which deals with "violations of conditional release, control release, or conditional medical This amendment is also related to the subject of released inmates in that it deals with ramifications when an inmate's release is revoked. Chapter 97-239, amended section 948.06, section 948.01, and section 948.14, all deal with probation and community control. Again, if an inmate is on probation or community control, he is released from jail under certain conditions. Thus, these amendments also deal with the release of inmates and do not violate the single subject rule. Moreover, the amendment of section 958.14 merely states that Youthful Offenders are also governed by section 948.06(1).

Chapter 97-239 is a means by which the Legislature attempted

to protect society from those who commit crime and are released into society. The means by which this subject was accomplished involved amendments to several statutes. The amendment of several statutes in a single bill does not violate the single subject rule.

See Burch, 558 So. 2d at 3.

The interrelated nature of the different provisions of 97-239 presents a situation that is highly analogous to that which was addressed by the Supreme Court in Burch. See id. Chapter 97-243, Laws of Florida, dealt with many disparate areas of criminal law, which fell into three broad areas: 1) comprehensive criminal regulations and procedures; 2) money laundering; and 3) safe neighborhoods. See Burch, 558 So. 2d at 3. Those provisions were deemed to all bear a "logical relationship to the single subject of controlling crime, whether by providing for imprisonment or through taking away the profits of crime and promoting education and safe neighborhoods." Id. The Court noted that "[t]here was nothing in this act to suggest the presence of log rolling, which is the evil that article III, section 6, is intended to prevent. In fact, it would have been awkward and unreasonable to attempt to enact many of the provisions of this act in separate legislation." Id. anything, the connection between the provisions of the act in the instant case is considerably clearer, without having to resort to such broad links as the regulation of crime.

Yet another case providing a strong analogy is Smith v. Dep't

of Ins., 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987), where numerous, disparate, legislative provisions regarding tort reform and insurance law were deemed not to violate the single subject requirement of the Constitution. The Court applied a common sense test, rejecting claims that laws dealing with both tort and contractual causes of action could not be addressed in the same legislation. See id. at 1087.

By contrast, in one of the cases in which the single subject requirement was held to have been violated, <u>Johnson</u>, there was no plausibly cogent connection between career criminal sentencing and the licensing laws for private investigators who repossess motor vehicles. <u>See Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d at 4. Likewise, in <u>Bunnell</u>, there was no connection between the creation of a new substantive offense - obstruction of law enforcement by false information - and the creation of the Florida Council on Criminal Justice. <u>See Bunnell</u>, 453 So. 2d at 809. The instant case must be governed by those cases in which a reasonable connection has been found, with deference given to the legislature. The common sense test applied by the Supreme Court in other cases is clearly satisfied in this case.

## 2) Separation of Powers

The Act does not violate the doctrine of separation of powers.

This argument has also been rejected by the Second District in 

Grant, supra at 521, the analysis of which was relied upon in

# Medina, supra:

Grant argues that the Act violates Article II, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution, also known as the separation of powers clause, in three ways: (1)restricts the parties' ability to plea bargain by providing limited reasons for the State's departure; (2) it does not give the trial judge the authority to override the victim's wish not to punish the violator to the fullest extent of the law; and (3) it removes the judge's discretion. As to the first reason, there can be no constitutional violation because there is no constitutional right to plea bargaining. See Fairweather v. State, 505 So.2d 653, 654 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); See also Turner v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2074, 745 So.2d 351, 352-54 (Fla. 1st DCA D2075, 1999) (rejecting the argument that the Act violates the separation of powers clause because it restricts plea bargaining). reasons two and three, this court interpreted the Act to give the trial court discretion to determine the whether defendant qualifies as prison releasee reoffender for the purpose of sentencing under section 775.082(8). See State v. Cotton, 728 252 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) review So.2d 251, granted, 737 So.2d 551 (Fla. Furthermore, even though the Fifth, First, and Third Districts have disagreed with this interpretation, they have nonetheless upheld the Act in the face of a separation of powers challenge. See Speed v. State, 732 So.2d 17, 19-20 (Fla. 5th DCA), review granted, So.2d 15 (Fla. 1999); Woods v. State, So.2d 20, 24 (Fla. 1st DCA), review granted, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999); McKnight v. State, 727 So.2d 314, 317 (Fla. 3d DCA), review granted, 740 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1999)

The Act does not violate the doctrine of separation of powers. Petitioner first argues that the Act restricts the ability of the parties to plea bargain leaving the prosecution only the

limited reasons set forth in s. 775.082(8)(d) to justify not seeking the mandatory penalties provided by the Act. Such action by the legislature is valid. A defendant is not constitutionally entitled to a plea offer, see Winokur v. State, 605 So.2d 100, 102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) and Fairweather v. State, 505 So.2d 653, 654 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). The legislature can, therefore, restrict a prosecutor's right to engage in plea bargaining. See also Turner v. State, 745 So.2d 351, at 353 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), rev. granted, Case 96, 631 (Fla. February 3, 2000) ("[w]e cannot agree that the Act violates the separation of powers clause by infringing on the ability of prosecutors to engage in plea bargaining. There is no constitutional right to plea bargaining. See Fairweather v. State, 505 So.2d 653,654 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). In addition, because the prosecutor does retain some discretion under the Act as to whether to treat a particular defendant as a prison releasee reoffender, See Woods, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D832, application of the Act is simply another factor about which to negotiate.")

The Act does not violate the doctrine of separation of powers by granting the victim the ultimate decision regarding whether a particular defendant will be sentenced with the mandatory terms imposed by the Act. The victim does not have the ultimate power to determine whether the Act will or will not be applied in a given situation. Either the Court, pursuant to the reasoning of this court in <a href="State v. Cotton">State v. Cotton</a>, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998),

rev. pending in state v. Cotton, No. 94,996 oral argument conducted November 3, 1999, and the Fourth District in State v. Wise, 24 Fla.

L. Weekly D 675 (Fla. 4th DCA March 10, 1999) or the state attorney pursuant to the reasoning of the Third District in McKnight v. State, 727 So.2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), rev. granted, Case 96,996 (Fla. June 11, 2000), the First District in Woods v. State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), rev. granted, Case 95,281 (Fla. August 28, 1999), and the Fifth District in Turner v. State, supra, has the "discretion" not to impose the mandatory penalties provided by the Act if in accordance with s. 775.082(8)(d)1.c, "the victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect..."

The operative word, as used by all the district courts of appeal, is "discretion." The victim's desire is not binding regardless of whether the discretion lies with the state attorney or the court. Either the state attorney or the court considers the wishes of the victim, but neither is bound by the victim's desire not to impose the mandatory sentence. Even the Fourth District in Wise, supra, at D658, which along with this court in Cotton, supra, held that the trial court has the "discretion" not to impose the mandatory sentences required under the act if the victim does not wish the sentence to be imposed, reasoned that the court still has the discretion to impose the mandatory prison term in spite of the victim's wishes to the contrary:

The trial court is not required to accept the victim's written statement in mitigation. It is left to the trial court in the exercise of its sound discretion whether or not to accept the victim's written statement in mitigation or reject it and sentence the defendant under subsection (8)(a)1.

# See also Turner v. State, supra at 354:

...[w]e do not read this provision as prohibiting the prosecutor from seeking to apply the Act to a given defendant even if so requested by the victim. Rather, as we interpret it, this provision merely expresses the legislative intent that the prosecution give consideration to the preference of the victims when considering the application of the Act.

We also reject appellant's argument that any deference to the victim's preference under section 775.082(8)(d)1.c. violates the separation of powers clause. First, as discussed above, we do not read this provision as transferring a "veto" power to the victim. Second, and obviously, the separation of powers clause concerns the relationship of the branches of government, and a victim of a crime is not a branch of government.

This discretion is similar, appellee submits, to the prosecutor's discretion in filing charges. See <a href="State v. Gonzalez">State v. Gonzalez</a>, 695 So.2d 1290, at 1292 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) ("[t]he determination as to whether to continue a prosecution rests with the prosecutor, the arm of government representing the public interest, and not with the victim of a crime or the trial court."); <a href="McArther v. State">McArther v. State</a>, 597 So.2d 406, 408 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (Decision to initiate criminal prosecution rests with the state attorney, not the victim.) It is also similar to the court's discretion in determining whether to

depart from the guidelines. Even though statutory grounds may exist to justify a departure, the court is not required to depart. See State v. Herrin, 568 So.2d 920, at 922 (Fla. 1990) ("We approve the downward departure in Herrin's case. In so doing, we do not suggest that trial judges are under any compulsion to provide downward departure when substance exists. A trial judge may always impose a sentence within the range of the guidelines. However, in those instances where substance and amenability to rehabilitation both exist, the judge retains the discretion to impose a sentence below the range of the guidelines. "(Emphasis added).

The Act does not violate the doctrine of separation of powers by removing all sentencing discretion from the trial court if the State seeks and proves that a defendant qualifies for such a mandatory sentence, This argument has been specifically rejected by the First, Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, which have considered it in Woods, supra, McKnight, supra, and Seed v. State, 732 So.2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), rev. granted, Case 95,706 (Fla. September 16, 1999).

Furthermore, the Fourth District in Rollinson v. State,743 So.2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), which along with this court in Cotton, supra, held that the exceptions to imposing the mandatory sentences set forth in s. 775.082(8) (d)1a-d are matters of discretion lying with the trial court not the state attorney, recognized that, by placing the discretion in the hand of the

court, that this supports a finding that the statute does not violate separation of powers. Rollinson, supra at 588.

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